IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

JUN. 9 1993

JEROME M. ALLEN,)		By Ship Control Charles
Appellant,	į		Chief Deputy Clerk
vs.	<u> </u>	CASE NUMBER	79,003
STATE OF FLORIDA,	j		
Appellee.			

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

CORRECTED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632
CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS
112 Orange Avenue, Suite A
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 252-3367

PROFESSOR VICTOR L. STREIB Cleveland-Marshall College of Law Cleveland State University Cleveland, Ohio 44115 (216) 687-2311/2344

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 2, 1991, the fall term grand jury in Brevard County, Florida indicted Eugene Dion Roberson, Brian Patrick Kennedy, and Jerome M. Allen (the Appellant), for the first-degree felony murder of Stephen DuMont. The grand jury also indicted the trio on one count of armed robbery, one count of possession of a short-barreled shotgun, and one count of grand theft of a motor vehicle. (R3649-51)

One of the first pleadings filed by defense counsel was a Brady demand. (R3659-60) The State did not contest Allen's

^{1 §§ 782.04(1)(}a)2, 812.13(1), and 812.13(2)(a), Florida
Statutes.

^{§§ 812.13(1)} and 812.13(2)(a), Florida Statutes.

^{§ 790.221,} Florida Statutes.

^{4 §§ 812.014(1)} and 812.014(2)(c)4, Florida Statutes.

⁵ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

motion to sever, and he was tried separately. (R3363,3666,3737-38)

On March 18, 1991, Allen moved to strike all death penalty proceedings based on the fact that he was only fifteen years old at the time of the offense. (R3735-36) The trial court ultimately denied Allen's motion. (R3782-84) Allen also filed a motion to determine if the State was seeking the death penalty in good faith. (R3769) Additionally, Allen repeatedly requested that two separate juries be seated, one to determine guilt, the other penalty. (R12-13,21,45-55,3770) The court also denied Allen's motion to dismiss the indictment which was based on the exclusion of an identifiable class to which Allen belonged. (R3432-38)

Allen's motion to suppress statements that he made to police was granted in part and denied in part. The trial court denied Allen's motion to suppress his statements to Roberson in the holding cell. (R3742-45,3755-57) The trial court also denied Allen's motion to suppress a shotgun and shells seized from his house. (R3752-53,3779-81)

Allen filed a number of constitutional attacks on Florida's death penalty sentencing scheme. (R3702-28,3844-46, 3849-50,3857)

The case proceeded to a jury trial on July 8, 1991. (R1-1307) Several jurors were excused for cause over Allen's objection. (R3044-47,3153-54) During the trial, certain physical evidence was introduced over Allen's objections. (R640-

41,922-33) During Detective Carter's testimony, the trial court denied Allen's motion for mistrial which was based on testimony that implied collateral crimes. (R913-19,996-99) At the conclusion of the State's case-in-chief, Allen moved for a judgment of acquittal which the trial court denied. (R974-95) The trial court denied several of Allen's specially requested jury instructions. (R1084-85,1130-33,3795,1108-11, 3794) Over Allen's objection, the trial court instructed the jury on the presumption regarding possession of recently stolen property. (R1078-80,1254) Following deliberations, the jury returned with verdicts of guilty as charged on all four counts. (R1300-1,3829-32)

When it became apparent that the State intended to call Brian Kennedy as a witness at the penalty phase, the trial court allowed defense counsel to depose Kennedy again, but refused to allow certain areas of inquiry. (R3531-3612) Counsel subsequently moved for a continuance based upon a discovery violation regarding prior offenses involving Kennedy. (R1417-34) The trial court denied the motion for continuance and also denied defense counsel an opportunity to present much of the evidence on this issue to the jury. (R1433-34,1530-80,1618-22,1761-71)

Private counsel filed a notice of appearance prior to the commencement of the penalty phase and sought to disqualify the Office of the Public Defender based upon a conflict of interest. (R2630-76,3860-85) The trial court refused to continue the penalty phase and refused to disqualify the public defender.

(R75-76,1410-17)

On August 9, 1991, this cause proceeded to a penalty phase. (R1405-1932) During the testimony of Detective Carter at the penalty phase, the trial court denied Allen's motion for mistrial and requested curative instruction after Detective Carter commented on Allen's pretrial silence. (R1742-50,1859-62) Over Allen's numerous objections, the trial court admitted the confession of Roberson which also implicated Allen. (R1708-21,1733-36) During final summation at the penalty phase, the trial court refused to declare a mistrial despite objectionable argument by the prosecutor. (R1877-93) Following deliberations, the jury returned with a recommendation (7-5) that Jerome Allen be executed. (R1924-25, 3886)

The trial court ultimately allowed private counsel to represent Allen at the sentencing hearing. (R2251-80) The trial court subsequently denied counsel's motion to continue and a sentencing hearing was held October 24-25, 1991. (R1935-58,2283-93,2306,4113-17)

After hearing additional evidence and argument, the trial court sentenced Jerome Allen to die in Florida's electric chair. (R2111) The trial court imposed a departure sentence of life imprisonment for the robbery, ten years incarceration with a five year minimum mandatory for the possession of a short-barreled shotgun, and five years incarceration for the grand theft. (R2130-39,4188-95)

The court denied Allen's motion for new trial on November

19, 1991. (R4214) Allen filed a notice of appeal on November 25, 1991. (R4215) This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Guilt Phase

On Monday, December 10, 1990, Stephen DuMont was working his usual daytime shift at the Exxon gas station in Titusville. He had received his paycheck on Friday and, according to his wife, had approximately \$273.00 in his wallet at lunchtime on Monday. (R244-48) DuMont came home for dinner that night but had to return to work that evening about 10:00 to help Scott Styles, a new employee working the evening shift. After DuMont returned to work that night, Styles gave a couple of his friends a ride home at approximately 11:15 p.m. DuMont remained alone at the (R249-51,258-59) When Styles returned approximately five minutes later, the buzzer on the gas pumps had been activated, indicating an unauthorized purchase. (R260-62) Styles found a wounded DuMont inside the office. Styles summoned the police and medical personnel. (R262-65) A conscious Stephen DuMont told him that two blacks and a white in a white and creamcolored car shot him. (R263-64,280-81)

Detective Anthony Miller of the Titusville Police Department responded to the scene. When Miller arrived, Officer Margaret Vess was already present. Miller questioned a still conscious DuMont, who said that two blacks and a white in a silver car were responsible. (R292-97) Detective Miller noticed that DuMont's wallet was out of his back pocket, but was still attached to his belt with a chain. (R302) Styles later noticed that the cigarette rack which he had stocked earlier that evening was

missing approximately five packs of Marlboro Reds. (R264-67) On the floor of the office near DuMont, Miller found a small piece of round cardboard similar to those used in shotgun shell wadding. (R303)

Paramedics arrived at the station, treated DuMont, and loaded him in an ambulance. DuMont lost consciousness in the parking lot of the gas station. At the hospital, medical personnel were unsuccessful in their attempts to revive DuMont. (R298-301) DuMont bled to death as a result of a single shotgun blast to the left side of his torso. The shotgun was fired at relatively close range. (R382-99,419) The medical examiner could not determine the shotgun gauge, the shotgun's size, or the type of shell. (R421-22)

On Tuesday, December 11, 1990, at 4:30 a.m., Maggie Sanders discovered that her 1983 Buick Regal that she had parked in her carport the night before, was missing. (R75-76,90-93) Police later discovered that the bulb in her porch light had been unscrewed. (R116)

At the December 11, 1990, role call, Brevard County sheriff's deputies were advised to be on the look out for a silver-grayish car, possibly a two-door Pontiac Oldsmobile with black tinted windows and occupied by two black males and one white male. (R432-35) At approximately 6:00 that morning, Deputy Frank Hickman responded to the scene of Maggie Sanders' reported car theft on Mertyle Avenue in Mims. (R433) Around Mims, stolen cars are usually found eventually abandoned in the

nearby orange groves. (R449-50) Deputy Hickman contacted Deputy Bellamy and gave him the description of the stolen Buick. (R449-50) After a thirty-minute search, Deputy Bellamy found Maggie Sanders' car in the north orange groves on Wiley Road. (R440-43,450) After observing the car from a distance for over one hour, the deputies, accompanied by a canine unit, cautiously approached the rear of the car. (R443-45) The car appeared stuck in the soft sand of the orange grove. (R447-48) A white male, later identified as Brian Patrick Kennedy, was lying on the front seat with a coat over his head. (R446-47,454-55) The car's odometer revealed that it had been driven approximately one hundred miles after being stolen. (R104) The damaged steering column indicated that it had been hot-wired. (R102-3)

Two sets of footprints appeared to originate from the passenger side of the car before heading off in a northeasterly direction through the orange groves. (R500-1) The canine unit tracked one set of the footprints to a house at 2765 Hickory Circle (Eugene Roberson's abode). (R500-2,864-65,883) Police found a latent fingerprint on Maggie Sanders' porch light bulb that matched the right hand index finger of Roberson. (R626-29) A latent print lifted from the passenger door handle of Sanders' car also matched Roberson's fingerprint. (R629) The sheriff's canine indicated that Brian Kennedy had been at the gasoline pumps at the Exxon station and in the office. (R502-6) A latent print lifted from the interior rearview mirror of Sanders' stolen car matched the right palm print of Jerome Allen. (R645-47)

On December 11, 1990, Detective Ralph Warren of the Titusville Police Department advised Jerome Allen of his constitutional rights and began questioning him. Allen told Warren that he knew nothing about the robbery or shooting, and that he had been home by 10:00 the night before. (R866-74)

Earlier that evening, he was in the company of his brother Jimmy, another boy named Dee (Eugene Roberson), and a white boy whose name he could not remember. (R874) The group had been at a pool hall in Titusville as well as the Palms Apartments that evening. After Allen's brother, Jimmy, left, the remaining trio returned to Jerome's house in Mims. Jerome continued to insist that he knew nothing about the shooting, and also denied pulling the trigger. (R875) At one point, Jerome asked Detective Warren what would happen to an individual present at a robbery who did not pull the trigger. (R875-78)

After questioning, the police placed Jerome Allen and Eugene Roberson in two separate holding cells located next to each other. A video camera aimed at the holding cells enabled the dispatchers to observe the prisoners. (R884-85) A hidden microphone between the cinder block dividing the two cells allowed police to hear and record any activity in the holding cells. (R886)

Roberson and Allen discussed their interrogations and compared notes. Roberson indicated that he had, "Told 'em everything." (R894) The police had convinced Roberson that Kennedy had "snitched" on the other two. Allen and Roberson

discussed pinning the murder on Kennedy. They also wondered how long they would be locked up, whether they would have to go to court, and their likely sentence. Allen expressed dismay when Roberson revealed he had already admitted to police that he pulled the trigger. Allen quizzed Roberson about what the police asked regarding Allen's participation. When Roberson revealed that he told police that Allen stole the car, Allen told Roberson that he "messed it all up." (R904) Allen advised Roberson to claim that the police forced him to confess. Allen told Roberson that he implicated Kennedy, so they would not get in trouble. Allen and Roberson attempted to "get their stories straight." (R893-910)

A search of Allen's home uncovered a partially filled box of shotgun shells, other ammunition, and a sawed off shotgun.

(R513-36,581-91) State experts could not say with any certainty that DuMont had been killed with that particular shotgun. The expert was reasonably certain that DuMont was killed with Winchester ammunition fired from a .16 gauge shotgun. (R1704)

Police recovered one fifty-dollar bill each from Roberson and Kennedy at the time of their arrest. They seized three twenty dollar bills from Allen at the time he was booked following his arrest. (R927-33) Allen presented the testimony of three witnesses during his case-in-chief. (R1011-56) Margaret Vess admitted that in the second incident report that she filled out on the night of the shooting, she wrote that DuMont told her that his assailants were two whites and a black.

Vess insisted that she made an error in the report. (R1011-24)

Shirley Allen, Jerome's mother, and Jimmy Allen, Jr., Jerome's brother, explained how Jerome ended up with sixty dollars in his pocket on the day of his arrest. Shirley gave money for a car payment to Jimmy who, in turn, gave some of the money to Jerome. (R1024-47)

Penalty phase

Brian Patrick Kennedy, Jerome Allen's codefendant, was the State's star witness at the penalty phase. Kennedy was scheduled to be tried in ten days for his part in the crime. In exchange for his testimony against Jerome Allen, the State agreed to drop Kennedy's other pending criminal charges. These included grand theft auto and burglary. The State also agreed to refrain from calling Jerome Allen or Eugene Roberson as witnesses against Kennedy at his trial. Most importantly, the State agreed to forgo their quest to execute Brian Kennedy. (R1454-57)

Kennedy ran away from his Merritt Island home in early

December, 1990. On December 10, Kennedy went to Mims looking for
his friend, Jerome Allen. (R1457-59) After hooking up with
Allen, Kennedy met Eugene Roberson and Jerome's mother. Mrs.
Allen drove the trio to Titusville, but they eventually returned
to Mims. (R460-62) At Allen's home, Jerome pulled a shotgun
from underneath his couch. He showed it to Kennedy and Roberson.
They discussed different ways to make money in Titusville,
including a plan to sell drugs. (R1461-74) Talk eventually
turned to robbing someone. The gun would be used to scare anyone

working at the business establishment that they chose to rob.

Jerome Allen suggested that they use the butt of the shotgun to hit the victim in the head. (R1474-77) No mention was made of shooting anyone.

After loading the shotgun with two shells, Roberson hid the weapon in one of several pairs of baggy pants that he wore.

(R1477-80) Jimmy Allen drove the other three boys to Titusville in his Nissan pickup truck. The trio returned to Jerome's house in Mims approximately one hour later. (R1478-80) After staying there for an hour, they decided to return to Titusville. They conspired to steal a car and began walking down the street.

Roberson still had the shotgun concealed in his pants. (R1480-82) Kennedy handed Allen a screwdriver and they eventually located a car with a tilt steering wheel. (R1481-90) Kennedy pulled the car window open and they unlocked the door. Jerome Allen then used the screwdriver to hot-wire the car. (R1489-90) Armed with the shotgun, Roberson stood lookout.

They all piled into the car and Jerome Allen drove to Titusville to a gas station just off Interstate 95 and Garden Street. (R1490-92) Finding only one person working at the station, the boys pulled up to the gas pumps, and Jerome Allen got out to pump gas. (R1492-98) Kennedy remained in the front passenger seat, while Roberson sat in the backseat with the shotgun. (R1499) Kennedy eventually got out of the car and stood next to Jerome behind the car. When the attendant yelled that they had to prepay, Allen held up a five-dollar bill and

requested that amount of gas. The attendant came out of the office and began walking toward the car. Allen pounded on the trunk of the car, exhorting Roberson to "Go!" (R1500-1) Roberson got out of the car, pointed the shotgun, and ordered the attendant to hand over the money. Kennedy went into the office to get the cash and, in the process, grabbed several packs of cigarettes from the rack. Roberson was backing up the attendant at gunpoint into the office. (R1502-4) Roberson continued to yell at the attendant to hand over the money. DuMont repeatedly claimed he had nothing. While Roberson held DuMont at gunpoint and Kennedy rifled the office, Jerome Allen remained outside. (R1504-5) Kennedy snatched DuMont's wallet and grabbed the cash before running out of the office. (R1505-7) With the money and cigarettes in hand, Kennedy returned to the car.

At that point, Kennedy claimed that he heard Allen yelling at Roberson. Kennedy turned to see Allen pushing Roberson and urging him to shoot DuMont, saying he could identify the boys.

(R1507-9) Kennedy continued in the direction of the getaway car, until he could no longer see what Roberson and Allen were doing.

(R1510) As he opened the car door, he heard a shotgun blast.

Allen and Roberson, with shotgun still in hand, ran back to the car and the trio drove away. (R1510-12) The trio later divided the money. Kennedy complained at trial that Allen kept \$60.00 for himself while giving Roberson and Kennedy only \$50.00 each.

(R1521-22)

Sentencing Hearing

After finally allowing private counsel to represent Allen, the trial court heard additional evidence and mitigation to which the jury was not privy. Sue Ann Allen and Dr. Bruce Frumpkin testified at the sentencing hearing on October 24, 1991. Sue Ann Allen, Jerome's older sister, is incarcerated in Lowell Correctional Institute for women. Sue Ann admitted that she was a drug addict before she was sent to prison. In a futile attempt to aid his sister, Jerome used to fight people who sold his sister drugs. (R1963-65) On one occasion, Jerome literally snatched the crack pipe from Sue Ann's hand and threw her drugs away. (R1965-66)

Dr. Bruce Frumpkin was qualified and accepted by the State without objection as an expert in forensic psychology. (R1972-80) Dr. Frumpkin conducted a clinical interview of Jerome and also met with Jerome's mother and brother. Frumpkin reviewed a host of documents. Frumpkin also gave Jerome a battery of psychological tests. (R1980-83)

Jerome, the second youngest of five siblings, had an extremely traumatic, chaotic childhood. At the age of three, Jerome's father frequently left Jerome with his ten-year-old sister. During one of these unsupervised occasions, Jerome splattered hot grease from a frying pan on his face. This incident injured his right eye and resulted in some facial scarring. (R1984) When Jerome was very young, his grandfather killed his grandmother before taking his own life. Since

Jerome's biological father appeared to be alcoholic and extremely abusive, Jerome viewed his grandfather as a father figure.

Jerome became very close to his grandfather prior to his untimely death. (R1985)

Jerome's father whipped Mrs. Allen in full view of the children. He constantly beat her and the children with belts and electrical cords. All of the kids were terrified of their father, but Mrs. Allen was unable to protect or comfort her children while Mr. Allen was present. He refused to allow Mrs. Allen to leave the house or to get a job without his prior approval. (R1986)

Examples of Mr. Allen's violent nature abounded. He once ordered Mrs. Allen to place her finger in the opening of a door. He then slammed the door on her finger hard enough to result in a partial loss of the digit. (R1986) When Jerome was approximately seven, Mr. Allen announced that he intended to shoot Mrs. Allen and ordered the children outside. (R1986-87) Once the children were outside, Mr. Allen locked the door and the children heard a gunshot. Although Mrs. Allen was not killed, the incident was very traumatic for the children. (R1987)

On another occasion, Jerome came to the aid of his mother who was being punched in the face by his father. Apparently the beating was more severe than usual, because Jerome feared that his mother was about to be killed. He responded by slashing his father's leg with a kitchen utensil. Mr. Allen later admitted to Jerome that, if he had not "cut" him, he probably would have

killed her. (R1987) Mr. Allen threatened to kill the children on a number of occasions. (R1987)

Jerome's parents separated frequently during Jerome's formative years. Mrs. Allen never divorced her husband because of his threats to kill her, if she pursued such an action.

(R1988) Mr. Allen left the household for good shortly after the shooting incident. (R1988)

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