IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JEROME M. ALLEN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 79,003

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED
SID J. WHITE

MAR 24 1993

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT,
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #618550
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The record demonstrates that the trial court was correct in denying the motion to disqualify the public defender as Allen failed to demonstrate that any conflict of interest existed. Appellee would first point out that Allen never challenged the public defender's representation at the guilt phase on the basis that one of his attorney's husband worked with the victim's father, and he does not explain how such alleged conflict, which apparently existed all along, impacted only on the penalty phase. In any event, as Allen recognizes, he was informed of this matter and signed a waiver (R 3885). Appellee submits that he should not be heard to complain on appeal about a matter in which he concurred at trial.

Appellee further submits that Allen has failed to demonstrate any conflict with regard to the public defender's prior representation of Brian Kennedy. A defendant must

demonstrate that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's performance. Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 100 S.Ct. 1708, 64 L.Ed.2d 333 (1980). A possible conflict is not sufficient, and until a defendant shows that counsel actively represented conflicting interests, he has not established the constitutional predicate for his claim of ineffective assistance. 446 U.S. at 3550, 100 S.Ct. at 1719. See also, Buenoano v. Dugger, 559 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1990). As the Cuyler Court noted, absent special circumstances, trial courts may assume that the lawyer and his clients knowingly accept such risk that conflicts may exist, and may rely in large measure upon the good faith and judgment of defense counsel.

Defense counsel in the instant case opposed the basis for the motion for disqualification filed by Mr. Wesley, which certainly indicates that counsel felt there was no conflict that adversely affect their representation (R would Significantly, the public defender's representation of Kennedy was on an unrelated matter and had ended. Finally, the record demonstrates that counsel vigorously cross examined Kennedy (R 1582-1606, 1634-43), and brought out his deal with the state, as well as his prior crimes of stealing a car and guns, and his having contemplated a previous robbery at a gas station. On the basis of this record, Allen cannot demonstrate that there was a interest that adversely affected counsel's conflict of representation. See, Mills v. State, 496 So. 2d 172, 175 (Fla. 1985) (public defender's office represented codefendant on an unrelated charge and as soon as his involvement in the crimes for which Mills was charged became evident, public defender's office withdrew from representation of codefendant-no conflict); Bouie v. State, 559 So. 2d 1113, 1115 (Fla. 1990) (public defender's representation of witness ended by time he testified, Bouie's counsel extensively cross examined him, and interests were neither hostile nor adverse to one another); Lightbourne v. Dugger, 829 F.2d 1012, 1023-24 (11th Cir. 1987) (any conflict of interest which may have existed by virtue of fact that public defender cross examined a client formerly represented by the same public effect best de minimusupon defender's office had at representation-witness was fully and fairly cross examined with regard to deal and credibility impeached through a variety of methods).

POINT 12

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE AT THE PENALTY PHASE.

Allen claims that the introduction of Roberson's statement during his penalty phase violated his right to confront witnesses. The state and the defendant can present evidence at the penalty phase that might have been barred at trial because a "narrow interpretation of the rules of evidence is not enforced". Hodges v. State, 595 So. 2d 929, 933 (Fla. 1992), quoting Chandler v. State. 534 So. 2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1988). The admission of evidence is within the trial court's discretion, Id., and appellee submits that Allen has failed to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion.

In finding Roberson's statement admissible during the penalty phase, the trial court stated:

THE COURT: Let me put an end to our misery. The Court will rule at this time that the witness Roberson is not available.

That there is not substantial inconsistency with the statement of Mr. Roberson with Mr. Kennedy's prior testimony, nor with the statements made earlier by the witness and the defendant while incarcerated at the time of the arrest.

That the statement subjects the witness to criminal liability and is therefore against his penal interest. He's confessed to participating in a robbery/murder.

That there is a presumption based upon that corroborating evidence and the other standards set by case law that the defendant would not make the statement

if it were not true; therefore, it meets the test of reliability and it is admissible.

(R 1698-99). In Ohio v. Roberts, 488 U.S. 56, 100 S.Ct. 2531, 65 L.Ed.2d 597 (1980), the Court recognized that evidence that is presumptively unreliable and inadmissible for Confrontation meet Confrontation Clause nonetheless purposes may reliability standards if it is supported by a showing of particularized guarantees of trustworthiness. In Lee v. Illinois, 476 U.S. 530, 106 S.Ct. 2056, 90 L.Ed.2d 514 (1986), the Court recognized that the presumption of unreliability that attaches to codefendant's confessions may be rebutted. Appellee submits, as the trial court found, that Roberson's statement bears sufficient indicia of reliability to rebut the presumption of unreliability that attaches to codefendant's confessions, so there was no abuse of discretion in its admission.

The similarities between Roberson's statement and Kennedy's testimony are as follows: Both said Allen started the stolen car and drove (Exhibit 2, R 1490); both said the gun was Allen's, Roberson said a .16 gauge shotgun was used, and during the conversation between Allen and Roberson in the holding cell the fact that the police found Allen's "gauge" was discussed (Exhibit 2, R 906-07, R 1461); both said that Allen told Roberson to get out of the car with the gun, or to "go, go, go" (Exhibit 2, R 1501); both said Roberson pointed the gun at the victim and told him to give them the money (Exhibit 2, R 1501); both said Allen told Kennedy to go get the money from the office (Exhibit 2, R 1502); both said Kennedy took five packs of cigarettes (Exhibit

2, R 1512); Roberson said that Allen told Kennedy to get the money out of the victim's pocket and Kennedy said he took the money out of the victim's pocket (Exhibit 2, R 1505); both said that Allen told Roberson to shoot the victim because the victim could identify them (Exhibit 2, R 1507-09); Kennedy said that Roberson was trying to run back to the car and Allen was pushing him telling him to shoot the victim, and Roberson said that he did not want to shoot the victim (Exhibit 2, R 1509); and both said that they were each given \$50 and Allen kept \$60 (Exhibit 2, R 1522). In addition, during the conversation in the holding cell, Roberson told Allen that he had told the police that Kennedy took cigarettes and money, that he, Roberson had been the shooter, and that Allen had stolen the car (R 903-04). Allen instructed Roberson as follows:

JEROME ALLEN: They ask you who made you pull the trigger, you say it went off by itself.

Hey, yo. Say the white boy tried to force you to pull the trigger and you say no. He kept trying to grab the gun from you; right?

(R 906). It certainly would seem that Allen would have had no reason to bring up somebody making Roberson pull the trigger unless it had been Allen who did this.

In a similar situation, the Fifth Circuit determined that the trustworthiness of a codefendant's statements was clearly established by corroborating circumstances, and that there were sufficient indicia of reliability to satisfy the requirements of the Confrontation Clause. *United States v. Vernor*, 902 F.2d 1182 (5th

took full codefendant Cir. case, the 1990). Ιn that responsibility for his part in the bank robbery, and made no attempt to minimize his role or to shift the blame from himself. There was nothing in the record to indicate that the codefendant made statements to avenge himself, or that the statements were made to curry favor with his interrogators, nor was there any evidence that the interrogators made any promises. demonstrated that the statements were voluntarily made after a waiver of rights, and there was no evidence of any plea bargaining nor was any plea agreement entered into.

Likewise, Roberson took full responsibility for his part in the robbery/murder, and made no attempt to minimize his own role or shift blame from himself; there was no nothing to indicate that he made the statements to avenge himself or curry favor with his interrogators; no evidence of any promises made to him; the statements were voluntarily made after a waiver of rights; and The Vernon court also found that there was no plea bargain. implicating defendant portions of the statement the sufficiently corroborated by other circumstantial evidence of demonstrated above, portions οf quilt, and as statement implicating Allen are likewise corroborated by other It is undisputed that Roberson was unavailable, and evidence. his statement bore sufficient indicia of reliability to meet Confrontation Clause reliability standards. Roberts, supra. also, United States v. Carporale, 806 F.2d 1487 (11th Cir. 1986); United States v. Chapman, 866 F.2d 1326 (11th Cir. 1989).

Even if this court determines that the statement was erroneously admitted, appellee submits that any error was harmless at worst, as there is no reasonable probability that the evidence complained of affected the outcome. Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986). As demonstrated above, Roberson's statement was cumulative to Kennedy's testimony and statements made during the discussion between Roberson and Allen in the holding cell.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING A MISTRIAL ON THE BASIS OF A COMMENT OF A STATE WITNESS ON CROSS EXAMINATION DURING THE PENALTY PHASE.

Allen claims that the trial court erred in denying his motion for mistrial after a state witness commented on his right to remain silent. Appellee first contends that this issue has not been properly preserved for appellate review. After the comment was made, defense counsel immediately moved for a mistrial (R 1743). While the state suggested a curative instruction, one was never requested by the defense until after all penalty phase testimony had been completed, and even at that point counsel stated that he really did not want a curative instruction, but he had to in order to avoid waiver (R 1859). Appellee contends that the issue had already been waived at that point, since there was no immediate request for a curative instruction. Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978).

Even if the claim has been preserved, relief is not warranted. Appellee would first point out that the comment was not elicited by the state, and was in fact given in response to a defense question which was well beyond the scope of direct examination. Defense counsel was arguing with the witness as to his motivations in obtaining the statements, and the witness responded in kind. A defendant should not be heard to complain on appeal about a situation that he has caused. Sullivan, supra.

Appellee further contends that the statement is not even a comment on Allen's right to remain silent, since Allen did not

exercise that right. Allen had initially given an exculpatory statement, and the jury heard this. As such, it was clear to the jury that Allen did not want to talk about the situation as the other two participants had done. Since Allen did not exercise his right to remain silent, error cannot be demonstrated. Dolinsky v. State, 576 So. 2d 271 (Fla. 1991).

Even if error has been demonstrated, it was harmless at State v. Thornton, 491 So. 2d 1143 (Fla. 1986) (comments by witnesses on a defendant's right to remain silent may constitute harmless error). In the first place, the comment was made during the penalty phase, after the jury had already found Allen guilty of first degree murder. The comment in no way would have affected the jury's findings as to aggravating and mitigating Further, as noted, Allen had given a statement, and by the time the penalty phase commenced the jury would have been well aware of the fact that Allen made no further statements, as all of the evidence had been presented. As such, appellee submits that a law enforcement agent's single comment on Allen's right to remain silent, if he exercised it, did not affect the penalty phase recommendation. See, Brannin v. State, 496 So. 2d 124 (Fla. 1986); Ferry v. State, 507 So. 2d 1373 (Fla. 1987).

ALLEN'S CLAIMS REGARDING PROSECUTORIAL COMMENT WERE NOT ADEQUATELY PRESERVED BELOW; REVERSIBLE ERROR HAS NOT BEEN DEMONSTRATED.

claims that the prosecutor engaged in Allen argument on four occasions. Allen first claims that prosecutor's statement that "they left him there paralyzed, bleeding to death; and they didn't even know or care whether he was dead" was, "in essence", an argument that Allen had no While defense counsel objected, the objection was simply that the evidence was irrelevant, not that it was improper argument on lack of remorse (R 1877). In order to preserve an issue for appellate review, the specific legal argument or ground upon which it is based must be presented to the trial court. Bertolotti v. Dugger, 514 So. 2d 1095 (Fla. 1987). Appellee contends that the relevance objection was insufficient to preserve the argument now raised on appeal, and that the claim is procedurally barred.

Allen next claims that the prosecutor misstated the law regarding mitigating evidence. After defense counsel objected, the trial court sustained the objection and told the prosecutor to change the wording (R 1880). The prosecutor then stated that "a mitigating circumstance is a mitigating circumstance if you find it is a mitigating circumstance" (R 1880), and there was no further objection. A defendant cannot complain on appeal of prosecutorial misconduct, even though the defendant objected at trial, where the defendant did not indicate at trial, by bringing

appropriate motions to strike, for special instructions or for mistrial, that sustaining objections was insufficient to cure the error. Reichmann v. State, 581 So. 2d 133 (Fla. 1991). Since Allen took no further action after the objection was sustained and the prosecutor changed the wording, the claim is not preserved for appellate review.

Allen next claims that the prosecutor improperly argued victim impact evidence. After objecting, defense counsel requested a curative instruction, which the trial court stated would be given (R 1889, 1891). The trial court instructed the jury that the aggravating circumstances it could consider were limited to during the commission of a felony, avoid arrest, and cold, calculated and premeditated (R 1907). There was no further objection from defense counsel or motion for mistrial, so appellee contends that this claim is waived as well.

Allen's final claim is that when the prosecutor was commenting on statements Allen had made in the holding cell that he was "obviously planning (sic) a seed in the jury's mind that, if they did not sentence Allen to death, he would undoubtedly be free one day" (IB 126). Again, the objection was simply that the argument was irrelevant (R 1892), and as with the first comment, in the absence of a more specific argument and objection the claim has not been preserved for appellate review. Bertolotti. supra.

Even if the claims have been preserved, error has not been demonstrated and reversal is not warranted. The control of prosecutorial comments is within the trial court's discretion, and that court's ruling will not be overturned unless an abuse of

discretion is shown. Durocher v. State, 596 So. 2d 997 (Fla. 1992). Prosecutorial error alone does not warrant automatic reversal, unless the errors involved are so basic to a fair trial that they can never be treated as harmless. State v. Murray, 443 So. 2d 955 (Fla. 1984). In the penalty phase, which results in a recommendation which is advisory only, prosecutorial misconduct must be egregious indeed to warrant vacating the sentence and remanding for a new penalty phase trial. Bertolotti v. State, 476 So. 2d 130 (Fla. 1985). Appellee contends that Allen has not demonstrated that the comments were even erroneous, but even if they were, any error was harmless at worst.

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